SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO.: 2010-TS-878

IN THE ESTATE OF GEORGE WILLIAM MACE, DECEASED

PATTY M. MACE STEWART, LYNETTE WINSTON O'NEAL, ET AL

APPELLANTS

v.

PATRICIA HAYES GARDNER

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned Appellants certifies that the following persons have an interest in the

outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme

Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible overturn the memorandum

and opinion:

- 1. Honorable Judge Dewayne Thomas, Hinds County Chancellor, Second Judicial District

Summary of Argument

Argument

, .

Issue 1

Issue 2

Conclusion

Standard of Review

Certificate of Service

TABLE OF CASES

In RE: Daniels vs. GNB, Inc., Cite as 629 so.2d 595, 599 (Miss. 1993)

Dunaway vs. McEachern No. 36909 Cite as: 37So.2d 767 (Miss. 1948)

Judy Nicole Woods Etheridge vs. W.D.W. No. 2004-CA-00166-COA Cite as: 922 So.2d 12 (Miss. 2005)

Gregory HILL vs. Durenda RAMSEY No. 2007-CA-00806-SCT Cite as 3 So.3d 120 (Miss. 2009)

Mink vs. Andrew Jackson Cas. Ins. Co., Cite as 537 So.2d 431, 433 (Miss 1988)

Mississippi Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks vs. Mississippi Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Ass'n, Inc Cite as 740 So.2d 925, 930 (Miss 1999) Under Dora ROBINSON vs. Robert COBB No. No. 1999-CA-01010-SCT, 1999-CA-01012-SCT Cite as: 863 So.2d 883

Rush vs. Casino Magic Corp Cite as 744 So.2d 761, 763 (Miss 1999)

Rebecca McDonald SMITH, et al vs. Mark ORMAN, Administrator No. 2201-CA-00252-COA Cite as: 822nSo.2d 975 (Miss. 2002)

Gloria Jones WALLACE vs. Otha Lee JONES No. 07-CA-59154 Cite as : 572 So.2d 371 (Miss. 1990)

Webb vs. Jackson Cite as 583 So.2d 946, 949 (Miss 1991)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

. .

- I. DID THE COURT ERR BY DISMISSING THE CASE, ON MOTION OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT, WITH PREJUDICE, WHEN LESSER SANCTIONS WERE AVAILABLE AND WARRANTED, SPECIFICALLY A DISMISSAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE?
 - A. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO NOT HEAR AND GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR REHEARING?
 - B. SHOULD THE TRIAL COURT HAVE GRANTED APPELLANT A CONTINUANCE ?
- II. DOES EQUITY REQUIRE THE COURT TO INTERVENE AND PREVENT THE CONTINUATION OF FRAUD WHICH IS BEING COMMITTED BY THE DEVISING OF GEORGE WILLIAM MACE'S WILL?
 - A. DOES FRAUD TOLL THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?
 - B. IS APPELLANT AN HEIR/CREDITOR, SEIZED OF AN INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY BEING DEVISED UNDER GEORGE WILLIAM MACE'S WILL?

v

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Nature of the Case.

This case involves the probating of the Last Will and Testament of George William Mace, the last living child of George Mace, Sr.

A Petition to Open the Estate and Appointment of Executrix were filed on March 16, 2009, and an Amended Petition to Open the Estate and Appoint Executrix was filed on April 30, 2009. (See exhibit, Hinds County Chancery Court Docket, pages 49 and 55, respectively.) An Order Opening Estate and Appointing Patricia Hayes Gardner Executrix was filed on May 13, 2009 along with the Notice to Creditors, with Affidavit, and the Oath of Executrix and Letters Testamentary. (See exhibit, Hinds County Chancery Court Docket.) The Appellant Lynette O'Neal filed her Petition for Injunction and Restraining Order on March 4, 2009. Exhibit, supra. Executrix Patricia Gardner filed answers and other defenses to said Petition on August 27, 2009. Appellant Patty Mace Stewart filed her similar Petition for Injunction and Restraining Order, along with a Petition Contesting the Will on September 18, 2009. Answer and Other Defenses to Petition Contesting the Will, and also a Motion for Summary Judgment was filed by Executrix Fatricia Hayes Gardner on September 24, 2009. Also on September 24, 2009, Executrix filed her Motions for Summary Judgment against both Appellants O'Neal and Stewart. On March 30, 2010, a hearing was held on Executrix' Summary Judgment motions.

IV. The Course of the Proceedings.

George William Mace died testate in Hinds County, Mississippi on February 20, 2009. A Last Will and Testament made and declared by George William Mace was admitted to probate by order of the Hinds County Chancery Court on May 13, 2009, in Chancery Court Cause Number P-2009-21 W/4. Patricia Gardner (Appellee, herein) was nominated by the decedent as his Executrix and was appointed and issued Letters Testamentary by the Chancery Court. On March 4, 2009, Lynette Winston O'Neal filed her Petition for Injunction or Restraining Order in the Matter of the Estate of George William Mace, which was designated Cause Number 2009-16, but was later consolidated with Chancery Cause Number 2009-21. An Answer and Other Defenses was filed by Appellee on June 29, 2009.

Patty Mace Stewart (Appellant, herein), filed her Petition for Injunction and Restraining Order in the Matter of the Estate of George Mace on September 18, 2009. Appellee filed an Answer to this Petition. On September 18, 2009 Appellant filed her Petition For Contesting the Last Will and Testament of George William Mace, and Appellee filed her Answer on September 24, 2009, along with Motions For Summary Judgment seeking the dismissal of the Petitions filed by both O'Neal and Stewart.

At the hearing on the Summary Judgment motions before Chancellor J. Dewayne Thomas held on March 30, 2010, Appellants's retained counsel, Attorney Gary Silberman, was allowed to withdraw as counsel sua sponte for Patty M. Mace Stewart. Appellant Stewart informed the court that Attorney Silberman held certain documents she would need to prove her status as an heir and potential creditor of the George William Mace estate, and the court gave Appellant Stewart and Attorney Silberman ten (10) days to file evidentiary briefs. Attorney Silberman failed to provide Appellant with any of the documents he still held, and both Appellant O'Neal and Silberman failed to file the court's requested briefs. On May 19, 2010, Chancellor Thomas entered separate Memorandum Opinions and Orders dismissing the Appellant's Petition for Injunction and Restraining Order, and also her Petition to Contest the Will of George William Mace. On May 25, 2010, both Appellant O'Neal and Appellant Stewart filed Notice(s) of Appeal from Chancellor Thomas' Order dismissing their respective Petitions. On June 10, 2010, both

.

.

Appellant O'Neal and Appellant Stewart filed Motion(s) to Reconsider, which Chancellor Thomas never conducted a hearing on. On July 30, 2010, Appellant O'Neal and Appellant Stewart filed their respective Appellants's Brief.

II. Disposition.

On May 19, 2010, the Chancellor J. Dewayne Thomas issued his Memorandum Opinion and Order of the Court dismissing the Appellants' Petitions.

III. Statement of Relevant Facts.

George William Mace was born on September 1, 1906, and died on February 20, 2009. George William Mace had seven (7) brothers and sisters. The siblings were Virgie Mace, Atward Mace, Annie Mace Wallace, Pattie Rea Mace, Roosevelt Mace, and, of course, George Mace, Jr. All of his siblings predeceased George William Mace.

The oldest of these siblings was George Mace, Jr., who predeceased George Mace, Sr. George Mace Jr. was married to Esther Mace, who predeceased him. Together, George, Jr. and Esther had eleven (11) children born of this marital union, all of whom were his sole heirs.

George Mace, Sr. died intestate on October 16, 1943. On July 14, 1944, the estate of George Mace, Sr. was opened, with Letters of Administration being filed. Over the course of the next sixty-five (65) years, the seven siblings died, with none of them, save George Mace, Jr., having any children as heirs at the times of their deaths.

As stated earlier, George Mace, Jr. was one of the eight (8) siblings who had children; when he died on January 15,1939, predeceasing his father George Mace, Sr., who died on October 16, 1943, his one-eighth (1/8th) share of George Mace, Sr.'s estate became immediately vested and seized in his eleven (11) children, his wife Esther Mace having predeceased him, according to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 91-1-3.

TIME LINE LISTING OF THE RELEVANT FACTS:

- (i) Death of George Mace, Jr. who died intestate in January 1939, and left 11 children behind. (A copy of the family's history line is attached along with birth certificates.) Those 11 children are listed as follows: Standford B. Mace, Velma Mace Burks, Clara Mace Winston, Luevester Mace Hayes, Roscoe Peter Mace, Queen Ester Mace Jackson, Virgil Mace, Mynetta Mace Smith, Alien Mace Moore, Ethel Elaine Mace, Robert Earl Mace, and Huey Prince Mace.
- (ii) Death of George Mace, Sr. who died intestate in October 1943, and left 7 children and several grand children behind.
- (iii) Letters of Administration on the Estate of George Mace, Sr. by: Pattie R. Mace, intentionally leaving out the 11 children of her brother George Mace, Jr., who predeceased his father. Dated March 7th, 1945 and filed July 14, 1944. Marked Exhibit "B".
- (iv) Letters of Administration on the Estate of Illinois Mace, by: Pattie R. Mace,
 intentionally leaving out the 11 children of their brother, George Mace, Jr., who
 predeceased his sister. Not dated and filed February 19, 1980, and dated June 23,
 1980 and filed June 23, 1980. Marked as Exhibit "C".
- (v) Death of Atwood Mace, who died intestate in April 1985. He left no children behind, but several nieces and nephews and sibling.
- (vi) Death of Pattie R. Mace, who died intestate in January 1993. She had no children, but left behind several nieces and nephews and two sibling.
- (vii) Letters of Administration on the Estate of Pattie R. Mace, by: Roosevelt Mace andGeorge William Mace, intentionally leaving out the 11 children of their oldest

brother, George Mace, Jr., who predeceased his sister. Cause No. P-94-9, Hinds County Chancery Court, Second Judicial District. Dated February 4, 1994, and filed February 25, 1994. (Attached is a copy.)

- (viii) On February 20, 2009, George William Mace, died.
- (ix) With notification from Patricia Hayes Gardner, several family members met at the office of Attorney R. Louis Fields, in Vicksburg, MS, at 2:00 p.m. Where he read a Last Will and Testament of George William Mace. Attorney Fields stated that he was not hired to execute the Will, he was only asked to read it to the family.
- March 4, 2009, Lynette Winston O'Neal, filed her Petition for Injunction or Restraining Order in the Matter of the Estate of George William Mace, et ux to stop Patricia Hayes Gardner from continuing to commit waste, fraud, and theft.
- (xi) Title Abstract of Mace Estate by Peter A. Stewart III, Dated March 14, 2009.Marked as Exhibit "A".
- (xii) Petition to Open Estate and for Appointment of Executrix for George William Mace, by: Patricia Gardner. Filed March 16, 2009.
- (xiii) Amended Petition to Open Estate and for Appointment of Executrix for GeorgeWilliam Mace, by: Patricia Gardner. Filed April 30, 2009.
- (xiv) Order Opening Estate and Appointing Executrix for George William Mace, by:
 Patricia Gardner. Filed May 13, 2009.
- (xv) Notice to Creditor, by Patricia Gardner. Filed June 8, 2009.
- (xvi) June 23, 2009 Correspondence from Nick Clark to R. Louis Field, Atty at Law.Copy attached.
- (xvii) July 29, 2009, Correspondence from Scott & Angie Kelly to R. Louis Field. Copy

attached.

. .

ı

i

- (xviii) September 10, 2009, Correspondence from R. Louis Field to the eight people listed in George William Mace's Will. Copy attached.
- (xix) Petition for Injunction and Restraining Order In The Matter of the Estate of George Mace, et al. by: Patty Mace Stewart. Filed on September 18, 2009.
- Petition for Contesting the Last Will and Testament of George W. Mace, by: Patty Mace Stewart. Filed on September 18, 2009.
- (xxi) Letter to Hinds County Chancery Court by: Patty Mace Stewart. Filed on September 18, 2009.
- (xxii) Motion for Summary Judgment by R. Louis Field. Filed September 24, 2009.
- (xxiii) Petition for Consolidating Case # P2009-16 with #P2009-21 by: Patty Mace Stewart. Filed September 25, 2009.
- (xxiv) Answer and Other Defenses to Petition for Contesting the Last Will and Testament of George W. Mace and Answer and Other Defenses to Petition of r Injunction and Restraining Order in the Matter of the Estate of George Mac, et al by: Louis Field. Dated September 22, 2009.
- (xxv) Amended Motion for Summary Judgment on Movant's Petition for Injunction and Restraining Order in The Matter of the Estate of George Mace, et al. Dated October 13, 2009.
- (xxvi) first Set of Interrogatories Request For Production of Documents and Request for Admissions to Patty M. Mace Stewart with Respect to Petition Contesting the Last Will & Testament of George William Mace, dated October 16, 2009.

(xxvii) Motion for Summary Judgment with Respect to Petitioner's Petition to Contest

the Will of George William Mace. Dated December 29, 2009.

(xxviii) Notice of Hearing. Dated January 4, 2010.

- (xxix) Second Notice of Hearing. Dated January 26, 2010.
- (xxx) Petition's Brief on the Mace Estate Matter by: Patty Mace Stewart. Filed April 07, 2010.
- (xxxi) Respondent's Reply to Brief of Patty M. Mace Stewart. By: R. Louis Field. Dated April 9, 2010. Filed April 14, 2010.

(xxxii) Motion to Reconsider by R. Louis Field. Dated May 24, 2010.

(xxxiii) Judge J. Dewayne Thomas's memorandum opinion and Order on Summary

Judgment Motion. Filed May 19, 2010.

(xxxiv) Notice of Appeal, by: Patty M. Mace Stewart, filed May 25, 2010.

(xxxv) Designation of Record, Certificate of Compliance with Rule 11 (b) (1) by: Patty

M. Mace Stewart, filed June 03, 2010.

(xxxvi) Notice of Appeal, by: Lynette Winston O'Neal, filed May 25, 2010.

(xxxvii) Designation of Record, Certificate of Compliance with Rule 11 (b) (1) by:

Lynette Winston O'Neal, filed June 03, 2010.

(xxxviii) Correspondence Notice from Kathy Gillis (Clerk for Court of Appeal and

Supreme Court of Mississippi) Dated June 9, 2010.

(xxxix) Motion to Reconsider by: Patty M. Mace Stewart filed June 10, 2010.

(xxxx) Motion to Reconsider by: Lynette Winston O'Neal filed June 10, 2010.

(xxxxi) Appellants's Brief by: Patty M. Mace and Lynette Winston O'Neal. Filed July 30, 2010.

(xxxxii) Correspondence Notice from Appeals Clerk (Jana Smith) Dated July 30, 2010.

(xxxxiii)Notice of filed transcript by Court Reporter (Toni C. Matlock) Dated July 30, 2010.

(xxxxiv) Certificate of Compliance with Rule 11(d) (2) by Appeals Clerk (Jana Smith)

- (xxxxv) Notice of Hearing on Petition for Authority to Sell Real Property by: R. Louis Field. Dated August 11, 2010. (Copy attached.)
- (xxxxvi) Order Authorizing Sale of Real Property located in Vicksburg, MS (Atwood Mace's house) by: Chancellor Dewayne Thomas. Filed August 30, 2010. (Copy attached.)
- (xxxxvii) Motion for Enlargement of Time filed by: R. Louis Field. Dated September 28, 2010.
- (xxxxviii) Motion Objecting to Enlargement of Time filed by: Patty M. Mace Stewart and Lynette Winston O'Neal. Filed October 5, 2010.

(xxxxix) Brief of Appellee by: R. Louis Field. Filed November 5, 2010.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellants' Petitions for Injunction and Restraining Order, and specifically Appellant Patty Mace Stewart's Petitions, alleged that Pattie Rea Mace committed fraud upon the court by intentionally "hiding" the eleven (11) known heirs of George Mace, Jr. from the court when she served as the executrix of George Mace, Sr.'s estate; she knew, or should have known that her nieces and nephews, the sons and daughters of her oldest brother, were entitled to their father's share of the George Mace, Sr. estate. She knew they were entitled to be a part of the court's list of known heirs; they, these then eleven (11) young children, all lived with their seven (7) aunts and uncles on the family's property after their parents' death. This fraud was committed over sixty-five (65) years ago and continued over the years with each successive passing of the seven (7) aunts and uncles, all the way up until the very probating of George William Mace's will. If the Court allows George William Mace's will to be probated as devised, it will sanction the robbing of these legitimate, innocent heirs, a theft by fraud. It is the position and argument of Appellant Patty Mace Stewart's Petitions for Injunction, Restraining Order and Contesting the Will, and now the argument before this Court on appeal, that Patricia Hayes Gardner also is fully and completely aware that these remaining children of George Mace, Jr. are wholly entitled to their share of George Mace Sr.'s estate, which over the years escheated down to George William Mace in total, and that she, Patricia Hayes Gardner, intends to fulfill the original fraud of Pattie Rea Mace by not disclosing these known heirs to the court.

The eleven (11) siblings (children of George Mace, Jr.) were seized in fee simple possession of their father's share of George Mace, Sr.'s estate immediately upon his death. The fraud committed by Pattie R. Mace in "hiding" them from the court tolled the statute of limitations governing their right to contest the probating of their grandfather's estate. Equity demands that this Court not allow this continuous fraud to be sanctioned by the court through the probating of George William Mace's will. Patty Mace Stewart and Lynette O'Neal were entitled to have their fair day in court. At the least, Appellants' Petitions should have been dismissed without prejudice, a lesser sanction, so that they may have been allowed to retain competent counsel to properly and diligently prosecute their claims.

DID THE COURT ERR BY DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CASE, ON MOTION OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT, WITH PREJUDICE, WHEN LESSER SANCTIONS WERE AVAILABLE AND WARRANTED, SPECIFICALLY A DISMISSAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE?

The Supreme Court reviews appeals from summary judgment de novo. <u>MS Comp</u> <u>Choice, SIF v. Clark, Scott & Streetman</u>, 981 So.2d 955 (Miss. 2008) "...standard of review on appeal from a summary judgment was de novo, and that de novo was the strictest standard of review." Id. "This Court conducts a de novo review of a trial court's granting of summary judgment. <u>Mississippi Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries, & Parks v. Mississippi Wildlife Enforcement</u> <u>Officers' Ass'n, Inc.</u>, 740 So. 2d 925, 930 (Miss. 1999); <u>Rush v. Casino Magic Corp.</u>, 744 So.2d 761, 763 (Miss. 1999).

On appeal from a summary judgment, "the Supreme Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant." <u>MS Comp Choice, SIF</u>, supra. "This Court, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made, examines all evidentiary matters before it." <u>Mississippi Dept. of Wildlife</u>, supra. The Supreme Court has further stated that "a motion for summary judgment should be denied unless the trial court finds beyond any reasonable doubt that the plaintiff would be unable to prove any facts to support his/her claim." <u>Rush v. Casino Magic</u>, supra. However, if one party swears to one version of events and the other party swears to a different version, summary judgment should be denied fact exists. Id. "A fact is material if it 'tends to resolve any of the issues, properly raised by the

parties." <u>Webb v. Jackson</u>, 583 So.2d 946, 949 (Miss. 1991), <u>Robinson v. Cobb</u>, 763 So.2d 883, 886. Further, the Supreme Court has said:

All motions for summary judgment should be viewed with great skepticism and if the trial court is to err, it is better to err on the side of denying the motion. When doubt exists whether there is a fact issue, the non-moving party gets its benefit. Indeed, the party against whom the summary judgment is sought should be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt.

Daniels v. GNB, Inc., 629 So.2d 595, 599 (Miss. 1993).

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