# SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-TS-00878

E

IN THE ESTATE OF GEORGE WILLIAM MACE, DECEASED

PATTY M. MACE STEWART and LYNETTE WINSTON O'NEAL

**APPELLANTS** 

VS

PATRICIA HAYES GARDNER

**APPELLEE** 

### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Hon. J. Dewayne Thomas, Hinds County Chancellor
- 2. Lynette Winston O'Neal, Appellant

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellants' Brief filed jointly by O'Neal and Stewart is non-compliant with Rule 28 M.R.A.P. in both form and content. Further, its non-compliance is so egregious that dismissal is warranted under the Rule. The separate and distinct designations of interested parties, brief content, identification of issues for review, procedural history and factual background and coherent elucidation of the contentions with respect to the issues presented and the reasons for those contentions supported by citations of case law, statutes or other authority are absent.

The Last Will and Testament of George W. Mace was properly admitted to probate by the Hinds County Chancery Court. Patricia Gardner was named by the decedent and appointed by the Court as Executrix of the Estate. Neither O'Neal nor Stewart is a party in interest under Rule 17(a) M.R.A.P., yet both filed wholly unfounded petitions slandering

Gardner by accusing her of fraud, theft, and unethical conduct in the handling of the Estate.

O'Neal and Stewart are not real parties in interest and the lower courts dismissal of their claims is proper. *Owen and Galloway, LLC v. Smart Corp.*, 913 So.2d 174, 176 (Miss. 2005); *Pruitt v. Hancock Medical Center*, 942 So.2d 797, 800, 801 (Miss. 2005).

Stewart also filed a Petition Contesting the Last Will and Testament of George William Mace. The lower court likewise dismissed this Petition, recognizing straightaway that Stewart's pleadings failed to raise any issue concerning the validity of the Will or the capacity of the testator to make a Will. Further, supporting affidavits, answers to discovery and statements by Stewart in open court make it plain that there was no genuine dispute concerning any issue of material fact and the Chancellor properly dismissed that Petition as well. Rule 56(c) Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure; *Point South Land Trust v. Gutierrez*, 997 So.2d 967, 976 (Miss. 2008); *Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.* 920 So.2d 479, 483 (Miss. 2006).

#### ARGUMENT

1.

The sufficiency of Appellants' Brief under Rule 28, Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Briefs filed and related to litigation before the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals must comply with Rule 28, Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure. Rule 28 requires that the Brief of the Appellant include and contain separately and under appropriate headings a Certificate of Interested Parties, a Table of Contents, a Statement of Issues, a Statement of

the Case, a Summary of the Argument, the Argument and a Conclusion. The Appellants' Brief filed by Stewart and O'Neal is patently non-compliant. The Stewart-O'Neal Brief does not include a list of interested parties or a table of contents. There are no distinct and readily identifiable issues presented for review. There is no statement of the case as contemplated by the appellate Rule. Absent from the brief is a summary of the argument and likewise absent in the body of the document are rational, intelligible contentions concerning the issues presented for review. Most egregious is the absence of citations of authorities, statutes and parts of the record upon which O'Neal and Stewart rely. The brief submitted by Stewart and O'Neal may be best described as a rambling, incoherent diatribe of their attorney Gary Silberman interspersed with complaints of alleged fraud and misconduct which occurred sixty (60) years previous in the handling of the Estates of George Mace, Sr., and an Illinois Mace. In fact, in Paragraph 1 of the "Issues That Are Reasons For Appeal" Stewart affirmatively states that she is not asking for any inheritance from the deceased, George William Mace, but is only concerned about some alleged fraud related to the Estate of George Mace, Sr., sixty (60) years ago. Likewise, in Paragraph 9 thereof, O'Neal makes the same affirmative assertion. The brief and the appeal filed by O'Neal and Stewart should be dismissed for substantial non-compliance with Rule 28 M.R.A.P. Zinn v. City of Ocean Springs, 928 So.2d 915, 920 (Miss. 2006); Taylor v. Kennedy, 914 So.2d 1260, 1262 (Miss.App. 2005).

Attached to the Stewart-O'Neal brief as Exhibits A through F are various extraneous extrajudicial documents which first appear in the record as exhibits to Motions to Reconsider filed by Stewart and O'Neal respectively in the Chancery Court of Hinds County. Curiously,

both of these motions were filed on June 10, 2010 some fifteen (15) days after O'Neal and Stewart filed their Notices of Appeal. (Court Papers 349). Notwithstanding and aside from the apparent jurisdictional issue created by the filing of these motions in the Chancery Court following the appeal, these motions were never presented to the lower court for adjudication. Having never been properly admitted into evidence nor considered by the lower court, the Exhibits attached to the Appellant's Brief should be stricken. *Rogers v. State*, 994 So.2d 792, 801, 802(Miss.App. 2008); Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 28(a)(3).

Rule 30, Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure makes mandatory the filing of Record Excerpts bound and indexed to include at a minimum (1) a true copy of the trial court docket; (2) the judgment or interlocutory order appealed from; (3) all other orders or rulings sought to be reviewed; and (4) all supporting opinions, findings of fact or conclusions of law filed or delivered orally by the trial court. O'Neal-Stewart failed to file record excerpts. The appeal should be dismissed under Rule 30 M.R.A.P.

2.

The propriety of the Chancellor's decision in granting Summary Judgment dismissing the Petition for Injunction and Restraining Order filed by Lynette Winston O'Neal and the Petition for Injunction and Restraining Order and Petition for Contesting the Last Will and Testament of George William Mace filed by Patty M. Mace Stewart.

While Gardner strongly believes and so submits to the Court that O'Neal and Stewart have failed under Rule 28, M.R.A.P to properly present any relevant substantive issue for the Court's review, prudence requires a response on the merits of the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment in favor of Gardner.

O'Neal filed a pleading which was styled, "Petition For Injunction Or Restraining Order In The Matter Of The Estate Of George William Mace, et ux" [sic]. Stewart filed a pleading identical in substance styled "Petition For Injunction Or Restraining Order In The Matter Of The Estate Of George William Mace, et al" [sic]. (RE 3, 5) The gravamen of both petitions seems to be that by probating the Last Will and Testament of George William Mace Gardner and her attorney acted unethically, and committed fraud. They both further contend in their pleadings that Gardner as Executrix of the Estate of George William Mace acted unethically, committed fraud, wasted and stole property of the Estate. The Last Will and Testament of George William Mace was presented for probate in the Chancery Court of Hinds County. The Will was thereafter admitted to probate by Order of the Chancery Court and Gardner was appointed Executrix. (RE 1,2). Summary Judgment motions questioning the standing of Stewart and O'Neal were filed by Gardner. (RE 9, 10)

The Last Will and Testament of George William Mace having been admitted to probate by the Chancery Court, a prima face case was made by its proponents that the form of the Will was legally sufficient and that the testator was of sound and disposing mind. *In RE: Estate of McQueen*, 918 So.2d 864, 867, 870 (Miss. 2005). Thereafter, it became incumbent upon any putative interloper including Stewart and O'Neal to first allege and then to bear the burden of persuasion showing that the Will was somehow deficient in form or that its maker lacked testamentary capacity or was influenced unduly. Neither O'Neal or Stewart raises the issues of the validity of the Will or the competence of George William Mace in their pleadings or supporting documents. At the hearing before Chancellor Thomas on March 30, 2010 Gary Silberman representing O'Neal made not one remark about Gardner's

status as Executrix. There were no assertions of unethical conduct, fraud or theft. No argument was made questioning the validity of the Last Will and Testament or the testamentary capacity of the maker of the Will. His only advice to the Court was that his client, O'Neal, was somehow fraudulently excluded from the Estate of George Mace, Sr., who died in Hinds County some sixty (60) years previous. Having submitted no brief with supporting authority of his client's position to the Court prior to the summary judgment hearing, the Chancellor allowed Mr. Silberman ten (10) additional days to brief the Court. No brief was ever filed by Mr. Silberman or by O'Neal. As outsiders looking in, O'Neal and Stewart simply engaged in mud slinging, leveling unfounded and scandalous charges of fraud and theft against Gardner and asking the Court to remove her as Executrix. Neither O'Neal nor Stewart is a legatee or devisee under the Will or a creditor of the Estate. Neither has standing to seek the injunctive relief so sought. Rule 17(a) M.R.C.P.; *Pruitt v. Hancock Medical Center*, 942 So.2d 797 (Miss. 2005); *Owen and Galloway, LLC v. Smart Corp.*, 913 So.2d 174 (Miss. 2005).

Stewart also filed a Petition which she called a "Petition For Contesting The Last Will and Testament Of George William Mace". (RE 7). Although so styled, the pleading in fact sets forth no allegation that puts the validity of the George William Mace Will at issue. Rather, Stewart incorporates in this pleading the identical scandalous charges of waste and fraud leveled against Gardner as in her Petition For Injunction and Restraining Order. (RE 5).

Gardner filed a Motion For Summary Judgment seeking to have Stewart's second Petition dismissed as having failed to set forth a genuine dispute as to any material fact. (RE 11). Considered by the Chancellor at the hearing on summary judgment on March 30, 2010 were the pleadings of the parties, Stewart's answers to discovery and affidavits submitted by the parties. At that hearing Gardner clearly demonstrated and convinced the Court that Stewart had failed to establish the existence of any essential element of her claim. As mentioned previously Stewart's pleadings are silent as to any defect in the Will or lack of testamentary capacity. The uncontradicted affidavit of Patricia Gardner establishes that the Mace Last Will and Testament was prepared by the law firm of Stamps and Stamps, that it was executed by George William Mace on February 10, 2003, that George William Mace died on February 20, 2009, that the Will was admitted to probate on May 13, 2009, that Gardner was nominated by the testator as Executrix and duly appointed by the Court, that Stewart is not a devisee, legatee or beneficiary under the Will and that allegations of unethical conduct, fraud and theft are false. (RE 11)

Additional evidence supporting the Chancellor's decision to summarily dismiss Stewart's claim may be found in Stewart's responses to discovery. Interrogatories 2, 9, 10 and 11 were asked and answered as follows:

INTERROGATORY NO. 2: Please state for any and all individuals whom you will and/or might call to testify at trial or any hearing the following:

- a) Name:
- b) Residence address and telephone number
- c) Business address and telephone number
- d) The substance of the testimony he or she might be expected to give at trial or any hearing in this matter.

RESPONSE NO. 2: We've hired Attorney Gary Silberman to handle the case for us. All material has been turned over to him. He will have to determine who will be called to testify. I cannot speculate what he plans to do and I will not be right to say who I suggested, not knowing if he will use them. Therefore, this information is currently in the possession of Attorney Gary Silberman. Attorney Silberman's mailing address is; P. O. Box 4877, Jackson, MS 39296.

INTERROGATORY NO. 9: Please describe in detail the "abusive history" of Patricia Hayes Gardner which you allege in Paragraph 11 of your Complaint and in your answer include dates of every event and names, addresses and phone numbers of each witness who will testify.

RESPONSE NO. 9: Please refer to the response to no. 2. This information is in the possession of Attorney Gary Silberman.

INTERROGATORY NO. 10: Please describe in detail the "irresponsible ways of handling the estate" by Patricia Hayes Gardner which you allege in Paragraph 11 of your Complaint and in your answer include dates of every event and names, addresses and phone numbers of each witness who will testify.

RESPONSE NO. 10: Please refer to the response to no. 2. This information is in the possession of Attorney Gary Silberman.

INTERROGATORY NO. 11: Please describe in detail the "unethical, disrespectful, and abusive conduct" of Patricia Hayes Gardner and the incidents of "fraud and theft" committed by Patricia Hayes Gardner which

you allege in Paragraph 12 of your Complaint and in your answer include dates of every event and names, addresses and phone numbers of each witness who will testify.

RESPONSE NO. 11: Please refer to the response to no. 2. This information is in the possession of Attorney Gary Silberman.

Requests for Production of Documents Number 6, 7 and 8 were submitted and responded to as follows:

REQUEST NO. 6: Please produce a copy of any document or statement which any witness of the Petitioner will use at a trial of this cause.

RESPONSE NO. 6: Please refer to the response to Interrogatory no. 2. This information is in the possession of Attorney Gary Silberman.

REQUEST NO. 7: Please produce any and all document and tangible things whose production has not been requested pursuant to any other item in this Request which you intend to offer into evidence at the time of the trial of this case.

RESPONSE NO. 7: Please refer to the response to Interrogatory no. 2. This information is in the possession of Attorney Gary Silberman.

REQUEST NO. 8: Please provide all documents you relied upon in preparation of your answers to Interrogatories.

RESPONSE NO. 8: Please refer to the response to Interrogatory no. 2. This includes title research work, birth records, affidavits, and other archived information that was done by my husband and I. This information is in the possession of Attorney Gary Silberman.

Requests For Admissions 1, 2, 3, and 4 were asked and answered as follows:

REQUEST NO. 1: Admit that you are not a named devisee, legatee or beneficiary in the Last Will and Testament of the decedent, George William Mace.

RESPONSE NO. 1: Admit, being that George William Mace is my great uncle, who he has in his Last Will and Testament is not the bases for my contesting it.

REQUEST NO. 2: Admit that you have no proof or evidence of "abusive history" as alleged in Paragraph 11 of your Complaint.

RESPONSE NO. 2: Deny. There are and has been mineral leases existing on the said property alleged to belong to George William Mace, but records will show that portions of said property, mineral, etc. is not and was not his to use at his discretion.

REQUEST NO. 3: Admit that you have no proof or evidence of "irresponsible handling of the Mace Estate" as alleged in Paragraph 11 of your Complaint.

RESPONSE NO. 3: Deny. There are research documents made available to you and the Courts to prove otherwise.

REQUEST NO. 4: Admit that you have no proof or evidence of unethical conduct or fraud, or theft as alleged in Paragraph 12 of your Complaint.

RESPONSE NO. 4: Deny. Within the same research, you will find that not only Patricia Hayes Gardner, but including but not limited to, George William Mace, was also aware of such unethical conduct and/or fraud, or theft. (RE 16)

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